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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

 
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT   ) 
OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION,  ) 
      ) 
   Applicant,  ) 
             v.          ) Case No. 2:13-mc-00061 
      ) 
FOREST COUNTY POTAWATOMI ) 
COMMUNITY, d/b/a Potawatomi  ) 
Bingo Casino,     ) 
      ) 
   Respondent.  ) 
____________________________________) 
 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF EEOC’S APPLICATION FOR 
ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE WHY SUBPOENA SHOULD NOT BE ENFORCED 

 The Forest County Potawatomi Community d/b/a Potawatomi Bingo Casino (the 

“Casino”), which is a respondent to a charge of discrimination filed with the U.S. Equal 

Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), refuses to comply with an administrative 

subpoena duly served by the EEOC’s Chicago District Office.  The EEOC needs the information 

requested in the subpoena to comply with its statutory duty to investigate discrimination claims, 

and requests that this Court order the Casino to provide the information immediately. 

BACKGROUND 

 On February 19, 2013, Federico Colón filed a discrimination charge with the EEOC, 

alleging that the Casino violated the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, 29 U.S.C. 

§ 621 et seq (“ADEA”), by harassing him and subjecting him to different terms and conditions of 

employment than younger co-workers, and by not properly notifying him about policies and 

procedures.  (Declaration of Rufino Gaytán III (“Gaytán Dec.”), ¶ 3 (Exhibit B), filed by the 

Casino on Aug. 23, 2013, in Federico Colón v. Forest County Potawatomi Community d/b/a 

Potawatomi Bingo Casino, Misc. No. 2:13-0053-CNC (E.D. Wis.) (the “Colón Case”)).   
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 On July 8, 2013, as part of its investigation of the Colón charge, the EEOC’s Chicago 

District Office sent the Casino a “Request for Information” (“RFI”) seeking information related 

to the allegations in the Colón charge.  (Gaytán Dec., ¶ 6 (Exhibit E)).     

 In verbal and written communications during July 2013, the Casino informed the EEOC 

that it did not intend to provide the information requested in the RFI.  (Gaytán Dec., ¶¶ 7, 9).  

Therefore, on August 1, 2013, the EEOC’s Chicago District Office served EEOC Subpoena No. 

CHMK-A13-90 (the “Subpoena”) on the Casino, in which it requested the same information 

requested in the RFI.  The EEOC gave the Casino until August 14, 2013, to comply.  (Gaytán 

Dec., ¶ 2 (Exhibit A)).    

The Casino filed its Motion in the Colón Case on August 23, 2013.  The Motion lists Mr. 

Colón as plaintiff, but its stated purpose is “to quash the [EEOC]’s . . . subpoena to the 

[Potawatomi] Casino dated August 1, 2013 for the production of documents pursuant to Charge 

of Discrimination 440-2013-01970, currently pending before the [EEOC], or in the alternative to 

impose whatever terms and conditions the Court deems appropriate under the circumstances.”  

(Motion at 1).1  Also on August 23, 2013, the Casino sent the Motion papers to John P. Rowe, 

Director of the EEOC’s Chicago District Office.  (Letter from Andrew Oettinger, Esq., to Hon. 

Charles N. Clevert, Jr. (Docket No. 7), Oct. 2, 2013, at 1).   

On October 18, 2013, the EEOC filed the present subpoena enforcement action along 

with a motion to dismiss the Colón Case pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  

 

 
                                                           

1 The EEOC also served a subpoena (EEOC Subpoena No. CH-13-089) on the Casino in Joan Boyd v. 
Forest County Potawatomi Community, EEOC Charge No. 846-2013-09790, which is the subject of Joan Boyd v. 
Forest County Potawatomi Community, Misc. No. 2:13-0052-CNC (E.D. Wis.), also filed by the Casino on August 
23, 2013.  That charge has been settled, and the EEOC will not seek to enforce Subpoena No. CH-13-089.  
Therefore, that subpoena is not part of the present dispute.   
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ARGUMENT 

I. The Investigation Is Within The EEOC’s Authority and The Information Requested 
Is Relevant. 

 
 Under the ADEA, the EEOC has a statutory duty to investigate charges of age 

discrimination in employment.  29 U.S.C. § 626(a).  To fulfill that obligation, 29 U.S.C. § 626(a) 

states that the EEOC shall have the power to make investigations and require the keeping of 

records . . . in accordance with the powers and procedures provided in [29 U.S.C. §§] 209 and 

211 . . . .”  To obtain such evidence, EEOC may issue administrative subpoenas.  E.g., EEOC v. 

Sidley Austin Brown & Wood, 315 F.3d 696, 700 (7th Cir. 2002) (ADEA); EEOC v. 

Quad/Graphics, Inc., 63 F.3d 642, 645 (7th Cir. 1995) (ADEA/Title VII case); EEOC v. Peat, 

Marwick, Mitchell & Co., 775 F.2d 928, 930 (8th Cir. 1985) (ADEA).   Accord, EEOC v. Shell 

Oil Co., 466 U.S. 54, 64 (1984) (Title VII).   

The EEOC has broad powers to investigate ADEA violations, and its subpoena should be 

enforced where (1) the investigation is within its authority, (2) the subpoena is not too indefinite, 

and (3) the information requested is reasonably relevant.  See Shell Oil, 466 U.S. at 71-72; Sidley 

Austin, 315 F.3d at 700-701; EEOC v. Technocrest Systems, Inc., 448 F.3d 1035, 1038-1039 (8th 

Cir. 2006) (Title VII); Peat, Marwick, 775 F.2d at 930.  The Casino does not argue that, 

generally, an investigation of an ADEA charge is outside the EEOC’s authority or that here the 

Subpoena is indefinite or even entirely irrelevant.2  Rather, it only argues that the EEOC does not 

have jurisdiction to conduct an investigation because the Casino is exempt from coverage under 

the ADEA.  This is incorrect, as will be discussed in Section II below.  

                                                           
2 In fact, as indicated in the Declaration accompanying the Casino’s motion, the Casino has already 

produced documents to the EEOC in an effort to convince the EEOC that Mr. Colón’s charge is without merit.  (See 
Gaytán Dec., ¶ 4 (Exhibit C (Position Statement submitted by Marybeth Herbst-Flagstad, Esq., to EEOC 
Investigator Andrew Daley, May 28, 2013, attaching Documents A-F)).  
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A. The Investigation Is Within The EEOC’s Authority. 

 If the EEOC has received a discrimination charge and has begun an investigation, it is 

acting within its authority in issuing a subpoena as part of that investigation.  Shell Oil, 466 U.S. 

at 71-72; EEOC v. Truck Drivers, Local 705, 23 FEP Cases 822 (N.D. Ill. 1978).  Here, the 

EEOC is trying to determine whether there is merit to the charges alleging that the Casino 

engaged in age discrimination against Mr. Colón in violation of the ADEA.  Thus, the EEOC’s 

investigation is for a legitimate purpose authorized by Congress.  See Quad/Graphics, 63 F.3d at 

645 (subpoena relates to investigation within EEOC’s authority if it seeks information relevant to 

the charge under investigation).  

As a general rule, “once a charge is filed, . . . under the statute the EEOC is in command 

of the process.”  EEOC v. Waffle House, Inc., 534 U.S. 279, 291 (2002).  Hence, “the nature and 

extent of an EEOC investigation into a discrimination claim is a matter within the discretion of 

that agency.”  EEOC v. KECO Industries, Inc., 748 F.2d 1097, 1100 (6th Cir. 1984).    

B. The Information Requested Is Not Too Indefinite. 
 
 Here, the Subpoena requests information relevant to the merit of Colon’s charge.  It 

identifies the person seeking the information and the date, place, and time where the information 

is to be produced; the records requested are easily identifiable and kept in the ordinary course of 

business; and the Subpoena specifies the information requested with particularity.  Therefore, it 

is not too indefinite.  See Quad/Graphics, 63 F.3d at 647-648 (even though discrimination charge 

did not specify the affected job classifications, it described the suspected illegality with 

significant particularity and thus the investigative need). 

C. The Information Requested Is Reasonably Relevant.  
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 A subpoena seeks relevant information if “the material subpoenaed touches a matter 

under investigation . . . even though the material may not be considered evidence as the term is 

employed in the courtroom.”  EEOC v. A. E. Staley Mfg., 711 F.2d 780, 783 (7th Cir. 1983).  

“Since the enactment of Title VII, courts have generously construed the term ‘relevant’ and have 

afforded the [EEOC] access to virtually any material that might cast light on the allegations 

against the employer.”  Shell Oil, 466 U.S. at 68-69, quoted in Technocrest Systems, 448 F.3d at 

1038; EEOC v. Schwan's Home Service, 692 F.Supp.2d 1070, 1084 (D. Minn. 2010); EEOC v. 

Von Maur, Inc., 2007 WL 3503435, *4 (S.D. Iowa, Oct. 22, 2007).  See Sidley Austin, 315 F.3d 

at 700 (“The [EEOC] is entitled to the information that it thinks it needs in order to be able to 

formulate its theory of coverage before the court is asked to choose between the [EEOC]’s 

theory and that of the subpoenaed firm”).  “The EEOC's investigation of a charge is not confined 

to the four corners of the charge so long as it is reasonably tethered by relevance to the charge 

and in good faith.”  EEOC v. Schwan's Home Service, 692 F.Supp.2d 1070, 1085 (D. Minn. 

2010), quoting EEOC v. Von Maur, Inc., 2007 WL 3503435, *3 (S.D. Iowa, Oct. 22, 2007).   

If an employer objects to producing information requested in a subpoena, it has the 

burden of substantiating its objections.  Quad/Graphics, 63 F.3d at 648, quoting Bay 

Shipbuilding, 668 F.2d at 313; EEOC v. City of Milwaukee, 54 F. Supp.2d 885, 891 (E.D. Wis. 

1999).  See Von Maur, 2007 WL 3503435, *4 (“Von Maur has not demonstrated [that] 

enforcement of the [EEOC] subpoena would amount to an abuse of the Court’s process”).  The 

mere statement by a party that the discovery sought was “overly broad, burdensome, oppressive 

and irrelevant” is not adequate to voice a successful objection.  Id. at 511-512.     

Here, the Casino has not met this burden, and must comply with the Subpoena.  E.g., 

Peat, Marwick, 775 F.2d at 930 (EEOC subpoena must be enforced if the EEOC shows that “its 
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investigation is for a legitimate purpose authorized by Congress and that the documents 

subpoenaed are relevant to its inquiry”). 

II. The EEOC Has Jurisdiction to Continue Its Investigation. .    

A. At the Subpoena Enforcement Stage, the EEOC Has Jurisdiction to Determine 
if It has Jurisdiction. 

 
The heart of the Casino’s argument is that it is an instrumentality of an Indian tribe and 

Indian tribes are sovereign and exempt from prosecution under the ADEA, and, accordingly, the 

EEOC has no jurisdiction to proceed against the Casino.  (“Memorandum in Support of Forest 

County Potawatomi Community’s Motion to Quash Subpoena and Motion for Protective Order” 

(“Casino Brief”) at 2, 4-8).  It is wrong.  Title VII explicitly exempts Indian tribes from its 

jurisdiction, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(b)(1), but the ADEA does not.  Reich v. Great Lakes Indian Fish 

& Wildlife Comm’n, 4 F.3d 490, 496 (7th Cir. 1993).  Congress enacted the ADEA three years 

after it enacted Title VII, and could have decided to exempt Indian tribes under the ADEA, too. 

In Great Lakes, a case cited by the Casino (Casino Brief at 9), the Seventh Circuit held 

only that the “law-enforcement employees [of Indian agencies], and any other employees 

exercising governmental functions that when exercised by employees of other governments are 

given special consideration by the Act, are exempt” from the Fair Labor Standards Act, but 

explicitly did not reach that conclusion regarding other employees of Indian agencies.  Id. at 496.  

Surely, it cannot be said that the typical casino employee is “exercising governmental functions.”   

The Seventh Circuit has made it clear that, “at the subpoena enforcement stage, courts 

need not determine whether the subpoenaed party is within the [EEOC]’s jurisdiction or covered 

by the statute it administers; rather the coverage determination should wait until an enforcement 

action is brought against the subpoenaed party.”  Sidley Austin, 315 F.3d at 700, quoting United 

States v. Construction Products Research, Inc., 73 F.3d 464, 469 (2nd Cir. 1996).  Accord, Peat, 
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Marwick, 775 F.2d at 930 (the authority to investigate violations includes the authority to 

investigate coverage under the statute; “a subpoena enforcement proceeding is not the proper 

forum in which to litigate the question of coverage under a particular federal statute”).   

Stated another way, the EEOC, like other federal government agencies, has the authority 

to conduct an investigation to determine whether it, ultimately, will have jurisdiction.  Whether 

an agency authorized to enforce a statute has jurisdiction in a particular case is a question to be 

decided initially by the agency, not by the courts.  E.g., EEOC v. Kloster Cruise, Ltd., 939 F.2d 

920 (11th Cir. 1991); Peat, Marwick, 775 F.2d at 930.  The EEOC’s authority to investigate an 

alleged ADEA violation is not negated simply because the party being investigated may have a 

valid defense to a later suit.  E.g., EEOC v. Tempel Steel Co., 814 F.2d 482 (7th Cir. 1987).  

B. The EEOC is Not Subject to Equitable Estoppel. 
 
Finally, the Casino argues that the EEOC cannot assert jurisdiction over the Casino in the 

Colón matter because of a statement in a letter of determination issued by John Rowe, Director 

of the EEOC’s Chicago District Office, with regard to an earlier discrimination charge.3  (Casino 

Brief at 5).  Again, it is wrong.   

First, the short statement in the earlier determination was not a “definitive interpretation” 

from the “Commission,” as the Casino claims (id.); only the five Commissioners appointed by 

the President with the advice and consent of the U.S. Senate constitute the “Commission.”  See 

42 U.S.C. § 2000e-4(a).  Second, a determination is not a final agency action and has no legal 

effect.  E.g., Borg-Warner Protective Services Corp. v. EEOC, 245 F.3d. 831, 836 (D.C. Cir. 

2001) (the EEOC did not engage in “final agency action,” reviewable by court under 

Administrative Procedure Act, by issuing a determination that there was “reasonable cause to 

                                                           
3 The statement, made on November 8, 2012, on a form dismissing Willie Smith v. Potawatomi Casino, 

EEOC Charge No. 443-2012-895, stated:  “Respondent is exempt from Title VII and ADEA coverage.” 
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believe” that the employer was violating Title VII); Georator Corp. v. EEOC, 592 F.2d 765, 

767-768 (4th Cir. 1979) (an EEOC reasonable cause determination is not a “final agency action” 

because “standing alone it is lifeless and can fix no obligation nor impose any liability on the 

plaintiff”), cited in EEOC v. Caterpillar, Inc., 409 F.3d 831, 832 (7th Cir. 2005) (“The existence 

of probable cause to sue is generally and in this instance not judicially reviewable”).4 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the EEOC respectfully requests that this Court order the 

Casino to comply with EEOC Subpoena No. CH-13-90, and grant the EEOC its costs of 

litigating the present subpoena enforcement action. 

 Respectfully submitted this 18th day of October, 2013. 

P. David Lopez                
General Counsel 
 
James Lee 
Deputy General Counsel 

 
Gwendolyn Young Reams                
Associate General Counsel 

 
     EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 
      COMMISSION 
     1801 “L” Street, N.W. 
     Washington, D.C.  20507 
 

 
                                                           

4 To the extent that the Casino is arguing that the EEOC is equitably estopped by the earlier LOD, this 
argument, too, is incorrect.  As the Seventh Circuit made clear in Matamoros v. Grams, 706 F.3d 783 (7th Cir. 
2013): “The Supreme Court has never affirmed a finding of estoppel against the government.  And that is not for 
lack of review.  The Court, in fact, has ‘reversed every finding of estoppel that [it has] reviewed.’”  Id. at 793-794, 
quoting Office of Personnel Mgmt. v. Richmond, 496 U.S. 414, 422 (1990) (italics in original).  Further, to show that 
equitable estoppel applies, the Casino must prove that the EEOC somehow misled the Casino and that the Casino 
reasonably relied on the EEOC's conduct to its substantial injury.  Matamoros, 706 F.3d at 793; Early v. Bankers 
Life and Casualty Co., 959 F.2d 75, 81 (7th Cir. 1992).  Equitable estoppel against the government requires “an 
affirmative act to misrepresent or mislead; mere negligence is not enough.”  Matamoros, 706 F.3d at 794.  There is 
no evidence that the EEOC misled the Casino or that Mr. Rowe’s statement was more than error.  Even more to the 
point, the Casino cannot show that it has reasonably relied on the EEOC Director's statement to its substantial injury.  
As a matter of fact and law, equitable estoppel cannot apply here. 
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Jean P. Kamp, Associate Regional Attorney 
     EEOC Chicago District Office 

500 West Madison Street - Suite 2000 
Chicago, IL 60661 
Telephone:   (312) 869-8116 Fax:   (312) 869-8124 
E-mail:   jean.kamp@eeoc.gov 

 
s/ Dennis R. McBride    ______________     ____________                         
Dennis R. McBride, Senior Trial Attorney 

     EEOC Milwaukee Area Office 
     310 West Wisconsin Avenue - Suite 800 
     Milwaukee, WI   53203-2292 
     Telephone:   (414) 297-4188      Fax:   (414) 297-3146 
     E-mail:         dennis.mcbride@eeoc.gov 
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